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TEN YEAR FINANCIAL STATISTICS

Rs. Million

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

SOURCES OF FUNDS

Share Capital 454 454 454 454 454 454 454 454 420 420

Reserves & Surplus 1,267 1,831 2,520 3,291 3,960 4,378 4,467 4,839 4,331 5,007

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’
FUNDS 1,721 2,285 2,974 3,745 4,414 4,832 4,921 5,293 4,751 5,427

BORROWINGS - - 200 550 757 - - - - -

FUNDS EMPLOYED 1,721 2,285 3,174 4,295 5,171 4,832 4,921 5,293 4,751 5,427

DEFERRED TAX
LIABILITIES - - - - 281 356 282 320 276 241

TOTAL 1,721 2,285 3,174 4,295 5,452 5,188 5,203 5,613 5,027 5,668

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

Gross Fixed Assets 884 1,201 1,957 4,021 4,969 5,156 4,922 5,046 5,177 5,282

Depreciation 431 512 586 700 846 1,227 1,623 1,972 2,339 2,703

NET FIXED ASSETS 453 689 1,371 3,321 4,123 3,929 3,299 3,074 2,838 2,579

INVESTMENTS 290 290 290 - - - - - - 2,197

Gross Current Assets,
Loans and Advances 1,721 2,034 2,429 2,568 2,981 2,934 3,630 4,322 4,018 2,978

Current Liabilities & Provisions 770 834 1,127 1,781 1,800 1,773 1,775 1,783 1,829 2,086

NET CURRENT ASSETS 951 1,200 1,302 787 1,181 1,161 1,855 2,539 2,189 892

MISCELLANEOUS
EXPENDITURE 27 106 211 187 148 98 49 - - -

TOTAL APPLICATION 1,721 2,285 3,174 4,295 5,452 5,188 5,203 5,613 5,027 5,668

TEN  YEAR  TRACK  RECORD

TURNOVER 5,623 6,456 7,205 8,751 9,921 8,711 9,089 9,817 10,890 12,143

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 947 1,165 1,383 1,517 1,940 1,267 996 1,157 1,624 1,906

NET PROFIT 620 814 976 1,120 1,266 850 763 732 1,072 1,269

DIVIDEND PAYOUT 191 227 259 286 318 318 318 318 336 421

CORPORATE DIVIDEND TAX 19 23 28 63 32 - 41 42 47 59

RETAINED EARNINGS 411 564 689 771 916 532 405 372 688 790

DIVIDEND - % 42@ 50 57 63 70 70 70 70 80 100

EARNINGS PER
SHARE (Rs.) 13.66@ 17.93 21.51 24.68 27.90 18.73 16.82 16.12 24.84 30.18

BONUS ISSUE 3:5 - - - - - - - - -

NUMBER OF SHARE
HOLDERS 30,145 29,413 31,690 33,019 31,442 30,607 30,607 28,048 24,571 24,019

@  POST ISSUE OF BONUS SHARES IN THE RATIO OF 3:5

FINANCIAL STATISTICS
OF

GLAXOSMITHKLINE CONSUMER HEALTHCARE LIMITED



3

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
OF

GLAXOSMITHKLINE CONSUMER HEALTHCARE LIMITED

TURNOVER
(Rs. CRORES)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
(Rs. CRORES)

NET PROFIT
(Rs. CRORES)

CURRENT RATIO (TIMES)
(Rs. CRORES)

UTILISATION OF INCOME 2006
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Your Directors are pleased to present the Annual Report
on the business and operations of your Company and
the audited accounts of the Company for the year ended
31st December, 2006.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
(Rs. Million)

2006 2005
Sales 12,142.53 10,890.17
Profit before Depreciation,
Amortisation and Tax 2,332.74 2,042.70
Less: Depreciation 381.03 372.44
Less: Amortisation of :
- Patents and Trade Marks 46.06 46.06
Profit before Tax 1,905.65 1,624.20
Less: Provision for Tax
- Current Tax 621.50 589.71
- Deferred Tax (35.33) (43.81)
- Adjustment of

Previous Years (0.25) (34.81)
- Fringe Benefit Tax 50.40 41.60

636.32 552.69
Profit after Tax 1,269.33 1,071.51

Previous year figures regrouped/reclassified wherever
necessary to conform to this year’s classification.

Appropriations
Dividends 420.56 336.44
Corporate Dividend Tax 58.98 47.19
Transferred to General
Reserves 789.79 687.88

1,269.33 1,071.51
Earnings Per Share 30.18 24.84
(Basic & Diluted)

PERFORMANCE OF THE COMPANY
The key objective for the year was to achieve an
impressive top line growth while maintaining costs at
lowest possible levels. Your Company is pleased to report
11.5% sales growth and 18.4% PAT growth for 2006 over
the previous year. It is heartening to note that this growth
has been driven across all regions and major brands.

2006 was the year of Horlicks. The 136 year old brand
which had been re-staged the previous year following
intense market research and product development
activities saw an impressive growth of 12.8%. Clinically
tested to make children “Taller, Sharper & Stronger”,
Horlicks continues to grow stronger by the day. Junior
Horlicks was also re-staged during the year in a state of
the art packaging format while Chocolate Horlicks was
relaunched in a cold format earlier during the year. The
initial response for both these promotions was very
encouraging. Horlicks vending machines continue to do
well and have helped the thrust on growing out-of-home
business.

Top line growth continues to be supported by aggressive
advertisement and various sales and marketing initiatives
whereas several initiatives were implemented to reduce
operating costs in the business. Your Company continues

to operate with minimum trade pipelines, selling as per
the market demands, and maintaining a very efficient
supply chain.

In order to maximize returns from idle cash, the Company
during the year started to invest in the Debt Market. At
the end of the year the total amount invested was Rs.
2,196.80 Million.

Pursuant to the adoption of the Accounting Standard 15
(revised 2005) issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India on Employee Benefits, the Company
has made a transitional adjustment aggregating Rs.
113.72 Million which has been charged against the
General Reserves as at January 1, 2006.

Profit before Depreciation, Amortisation and Tax as a
percentage to sales has improved to 19.2% this year as
against 18.8% in the previous year. During the year, input
costs of Raw Material, Packing Material and Finished
Goods, as a percentage to sales, increased to 31.6% as
against 29.0% last year mainly due to higher input costs
(particularly liquid milk and skimmed milk powder).

DIVIDENDS

The Directors consider the Interim dividend aggregating
to Rs.10 per share declared, to be reasonable and
commensurate with the results for the year ended 31st
December, 2006 and do not recommend a final dividend
for the year.

RESERVES

The total Reserves as on 31st December, 2006 stood at
Rs. 5,006.63 Million representing an increase of 15.6%
from last year.

EXPORTS

During the year, the Company’s expor t earnings
amounting to Rs. 608.99 Million covering exports to
Bangladesh, Myanmar, Sri Lanka, Middle East, Hong
Kong, Malaysia, Fiji, Mauritius, Nepal, Bhutan  and other
markets represented an increase of 8.2 % over the
previous year.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research & Development continue to play an instrumental
part in providing valuable support to the excellent
performance of your Company. Besides being pivotal in
fuelling innovation through a number of new product
developments across all brands, it continues to provide
the all-important operational and business support
underlying the great performance and growth of the major
brands

The state-of-the-art R&D centre in Gurgaon continues to
serve as a great enabler to support even higher levels of
innovation in the future.

ISO CERTIFICATION

Your Company’s manufacturing facilities at Nabha,
Rajahmundry and Sonepat continue to be certified to the
latest version of OHSAS 18001, ISO 9001:2000 and ISO
14001:2004 by DNV, a leading International certification
Company, whereas the Rajahmundry site has also been
accredited with SA 8000. Nabha and Sonepat production

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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facility has already been certified for HACCP (Hazard
Analysis Critical Control Point for Food safety).
Secondary manufacturing/packing sites i.e. Durandel
Foods at Chennai, Pratap Health Foods Ltd. at
Hyderabad, Parsons Ltd. at Ghaziabad, Legacy Foods at
Baddi and SRDN at Guwahati have already been ISO
9001-2000 certified by DNV.
These certifications indicate our commitment in meeting,
in a sustainable manner, Global Quality, Environment
Health and Safety Standards.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

Your Company continues to be at the forefront of
Information Technology having implemented two ERP
packages. During the year, your Company has also been
able to launch a state of the art web based Treasury
operation integrating its Payments to vendors and
Collections from customers centrally. Connected to all its
business locations all over the country via satellite and
terrestrial links, the Company is leveraging direct market
information through its Wholesaler Automated project.

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY
ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS
AND OUTGO

Information required as per the Companies (Disclosure
of particulars in the Report of the Board of Directors)
Rules, 1988, is given in the Annexure to this Report.

DIRECTORS
Mr. David S Allen ceased to be a Wholetime Director of
the Company effective 24 January 2006 and in his place
Mr. Praveen K Gupta was nominated as a Wholetime
Director of the Company by Horlicks Limited, UK under
the provisions of Articles of Association of the Company
from the same date.
Mr. Partha S Mukherjee ceased to be a Wholetime
Director effective 1 May 2006 upon his resignation.
Mr. A S Lakshmanan retired as a Non-Executive Director
effective 13 June 2006.
Mr. P Dwarakanath retired as a Wholetime Director
effective 1 August 2006 but continues as a Non-Executive
Director of the Company till end of the tenure of his
appointment.
Mr. Nicholas J Massey ceased to be the Managing
Director effective 1 January, 2007 upon withdrawal of his
nomination by Horlicks Limited under the provisions of
Article 97A of the Articles of Association of the Company.
In his place Mr. Zubair Ahmed has been nominated by
Horlicks Limited from the same date.
The Board of Directors wish to place on record their
sincere appreciation for the valuable advise and guidance
rendered by Mr. David S Allen, Mr. Partha S Mukherjee
and Mr. A S Lakshmanan during their tenure as Directors.
The Board also wishes to record its appreciation for
significant contribution made by Mr. Nicholas J Massey
to the business of the Company during his tenure as
Managing Director.

AUDITORS

Messrs Price Waterhouse, Chartered Accountants, who
retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming Annual General

Meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment.

HUMAN RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT
As in the past years, the management continued to take
a keen interest in Human Resource Development.
Harmonious industrial relations continued to prevail at all
the units throughout the Company. The management
continued to focus on Human Resource Development
through in-house and external management development
programmes and foreign assignments.

The Company, during the year, has been awarded as one
of the top 25 companies to work in, by a survey (Great
Place to Work) conducted by the Grow Talent & Business
World.

ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL COMMITMENT
Your Company, in its endeavour to serve the community,
continues to contribute in and around the areas where it
operates.

During the year, your Company won the prestigious Asian
CSR 2006 Award, in the category of “Improvement of
Education”, for its work on the “Knowledge-based
therapeutic recreation for Children / youth and HIV/AIDS”
programme in India. The programme was chosen out of
a highly competitive field of 178 projects submitted by 98
companies across 14 countr ies in Asia and it
acknowledged the company’s leadership in raising
awareness in girl children about their rights against
trafficking and sensitising them about hygiene and
appropriate behaviours when dealing with People Living
With AIDS (PLWA).

During the year the Nabha site received “The Best
Environment Protection Initiative 2006” award from the
Punjab Pollution Control Board. The site proactively
launched “Stop Dengue” Campaign in the Nabha Town to
improve sanitation and hygiene, in association with local
NGOs, civil administration and health authorities and the
community. As in previous years, the site organized
regular animal welfare measures and subsidized vet
medicines, supported several dairy farming initiatives like
Veterinary camps, milking competitions, sponsoring
awareness camps etc. in the milk shed area.

A multifaceted program has been launched in Sonepat
for “Health & Education for Women” under which health
camp has been organized and vocational training
(stitching & embroidery) has been imparted to the rural
womenfolk for empowering them. This endeavour is the
stepping stone for many such initiatives in the villages
around your factory in Sonepat. Rajahmundry site has, in
the last two years, planted more than 2000 Bio-diesel
saplings. The bio-diesel accrued from these plants shall
be used for the vehicles operated by the site.

PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES

Information as per Section 217 (2A) of the Companies
Act, 1956, read with the Companies (Particulars of
Employees) Rules, 1975, as amended from time to time,
forms part of this Report. However, as per the provisions
of Section 219(1)(b)(iv) of the Act, the report and Accounts
are being sent to all the members excluding the statement

DIRECTORS’ REPORT



11

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
OF

GLAXOSMITHKLINE CONSUMER HEALTHCARE LIMITED
COMPANY’S PHILOSOPHY ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Ltd. is committed to following best global corporate governance practices in all
its pursuits. The guiding principle for the Company always has been to achieve shareholder’s satisfaction and maximize
shareholders’ value by following best corporate governance norms in true letter and spirit. The Company aims at achieving
this objective by ensuring transparency in its functioning by truthful and complete communication to all its stakeholders
and by inculcating a culture of ethical business conduct in all its operations.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The composition of the Board of Directors of the Company is in complete conformity with the requirements of Clause 49
of the Listing Agreement. The details of the Board of Directors, their attendance records and other relevant details during
the year ended 31st December, 2006 are as under:

Name of the Director Category of No.of Board Attendance No. of No. of Committee
Directorship meetings at last AGM Directorships Position held in Other

attended  held on 29th in other Public  Public Companies
 April, 2006    Companies Chairman Member

Mr. Simon J. Scarff NEC 5 Yes 1 Nil 1
Mr. Nicholas J Massey MD 3 Yes Nil Nil Nil
Mr. A S Lakshmanan NED -I 2 Yes N.A. N.A. N.A.

 (till 13 June, 2006)
Mr. David S Allen WTD 1 No Nil Nil Nil

 (till 24 January, 2006)
Mr. Partha S Mukherjee WTD 2 Yes Nil Nil Nil

 (till 30 April, 2006)
Mr. Ashok Dayal NED - I 4 Yes 3 1 0
Mr. P. Murari NED - I 4 Yes 11 2 4
Mr. Kunal Kashyap NED - I 5 Yes 3 2 3
Mr. Subodh Bhargava NED - I 4 Yes 12 4 6
Mr. Ian McPherson NED Nil No Nil Nil Nil
Mr. P. Dwarakanath WTD 3 Yes Nil Nil Nil

 (till 31 July, 2006)
Mr. P. Dwarakanath NED 1 Yes Nil Nil Nil

 (w.e.f. 1 August, 2006)
Mr. G.K. Chakraborty WTD 5 Yes Nil Nil Nil
Mr. Praveen K Gupta WTD 4 Yes Nil Nil Nil

 (w.e.f. 24 January, 2006)

NEC - Non Executive Chairman MD - Managing Director WTD – Wholetime Director
NED - Non Executive Director NED-I - Non Executive Director–Independent

Mr. Zubair Ahmed was nominated as the Managing Director in place of Mr. Nicholas J Massey w.e.f January 1, 2007, by
Horlicks Ltd. under the provisions of Article 97A of the Articles of Association of the Company.

Details of Board Meetings during the year

The Board of Directors of the Company met five times during the year on January 24, 2006, April 28, 2006, July 27, 2006,
October 26, 2006 and December 19, 2006.

Information to the Board

The Company holds atleast four board meetings in a year with at least one meeting in each quarter to review the quarterly
financial results. The maximum gap between two board meetings is not more than four months. Agenda papers are
circulated to the Board members and other permanent invitees to the Board meeting well in advance. In addition to the
specific matters which are taken at the Board meetings, the following information is also placed before the Board for its
review:

• Annual Operating Plans and Capital budgets and any updates in connection therewith.
• Quarterly results of the Company
• Minutes of the meetings of the Audit Committee and all other committees of the Board.
• Terms of reference of the Committees of the Board.
• Statutory Compliance Certificate
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• Information on appointment and resignation of senior officers of the Company.

• Significant labour problems, if any, at any of the plant locations of the Company.

• Significant development in Human Resources/ Industrial Relations front like signing of wage agreement,
implementation of Voluntary Retirement Scheme etc.

• Information on strikes, lockouts, retrenchment, fatal accidents, dangerous occurrences, any material effluent or
pollution problems or any other materially important incident, if any.

• Show cause, demand, prosecution notices and penalty notices of material importance.

• Any material default in financial obligations to and by the Company, or substantial non recovery for sale of goods
by the Company.

• Non-compliance of any regulatory, statutory or listing requirements and shareholders service such as non-payment
of dividend, delay in share transfer etc.

• Details of any joint venture or collaboration agreement.

• Sale of a material nature, of investments and/ or assets, which are not in the normal course of business.

• Any issue involving possible public or product liability claims of a substantial nature, including any judgement or
order which may have passed strictures on the conduct of the Company.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

The Board of Directors decides the composition and terms of reference of the Board Committees. The composition,
terms of reference and the dates of these Committee meetings is given below :

a) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises of three members, all of whom are Independent Directors and possess financial and
/ or accounting knowledge. Till April 28, 2006, the committee comprised of Mr. Kunal Kashyap as the Chairman with
Mr. A S Lakshmanan and Mr. Subodh Bhargava as the other two members of the Committee. Upon the retirement of
Mr. A S Lakshmanan, Mr. P Murari joined the Committee as a member w.e.f. April 28, 2006. Mr. Surinder Kumar,
Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee. The Chairman, Managing Director, Director-Finance and
Director-Operations are permanent invitees to the Audit Committee Meetings. The Head of Internal Audit, Vice President
-Human Resources, the concerned partners of Price Waterhouse, the Statutory Auditors and the Cost Auditors are
also invited to the Audit Committee meetings.

The Company has a multi disciplinary Internal Audit Team which submits its report directly to the Audit Committee on
a quarterly basis. The Head of the Internal Audit Department reports to the Audit Committee. The Chairman of the
Audit Committee attended the last Annual General Meeting held on April 29, 2006 to answer shareholders queries.

Terms of reference:

The functioning and terms of reference of the Audit Committee including the role, powers and duties, quorum for
meetings and frequency of meetings, have been devised keeping in view the requirements of Section 292A of the
Companies Act, 1956 and the Listing Agreement with the Stock Exchanges. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee include:-

1. Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting process and the disclosure of its financial information to ensure
that the financial statement is correct, sufficient and credible.

2. Recommending to the Board, the appointment, re-appointment and, if required, the replacement or removal of the
statutory auditor and the fixation of audit fees.

3. Approval of payment to statutory auditors for any other services rendered by the statutory auditors.

4. Reviewing, with the management, the annual financial statements before submission to the board for approval,
with particular reference to:

a) Matters required to be included in the Director’s Responsibility Statement to be included in the Board’s report
in terms of clause (2AA) of section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956.

b) Changes, if any, in accounting policies and practices and reasons for the same.
c) Major accounting entries involving estimates based on the exercise of judgment by management.
d) Significant adjustments made in the financial statements arising out of audit findings.
e) Compliance with listing and other legal requirements relating to financial statements.
f) Disclosure of any related party transactions.
g) Qualifications in the draft audit report.

5. Reviewing, with the management, the quarterly financial statements before submission to the board for approval.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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6. Reviewing, with the management, performance of statutory and internal auditors, adequacy of the internal control
systems.

7. Reviewing the adequacy of the internal audit function, if any, including the structure of the internal audit department,
staffing and seniority of the official heading the department, reporting structure coverage and frequency of internal
audit.

8. Discussion with internal auditors on any significant findings and follow up there on.

9. Reviewing the findings of any internal investigations by the internal auditors into matters where there is suspected
fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a material nature and reporting the matter to the
board.

10.Discussion with statutory auditors before the audit commences, about the nature and scope of audit as well as
post-audit discussion to ascertain any area of concern.

11. To look into the reasons for substantial defaults in the payment to the depositors, debenture holders, shareholders
(in case of non payment of declared dividends) and creditors.

12.To review the functioning of the Whistle Blower mechanism, in case the same is existing.

13.Carrying out any other function as is mentioned in the terms of reference of the Audit Committee.

14.The Audit Committee to mandatorily review the following information:
a) Management discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations;
b) Statement of significant related party transactions (as defined by the audit committee), submitted by
management;
c) Management letters / letters of internal control weaknesses issued by the statutory auditors; and
d) Internal audit reports relating to internal control weaknesses.

15.Reviewing the appointment, removal and terms of remuneration of the Chief internal auditor.

Five meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the year. Attendance at meetings during the year:

Director No. of meetings attended
Mr. Kunal Kashyap 5
Mr. Subodh Bhargava 4
Mr. A. S. Lakshmanan (till April 28, 2006) 2
Mr. P. Murari (w.e.f. April 28, 2006) 3

b) Remuneration Committee

The Company has a Remuneration Committee which comprises of four members. Mr. P. Murari, an Independent
Director, is the Chairman of the Committee and Mr. Ashok Dayal, also an Independent Director, Mr. Simon J Scarff,
and Mr. P. Dwarakanath are the other members of the Committee. Mr. Surinder Kumar, Company Secretary acts as
Secretary to the Committee.

Terms of reference:

The functioning and terms of reference of the Committee have been finalised in line with the recommendations as
prescribed under the Listing Agreement with the Stock Exchanges. The Committee determines the Company’s policy
on all elements of remuneration packages of all the Directors including salary, benefits, bonus, stock options, pension
rights and compensation payment etc., details of fixed component and performance linked incentives alongwith
performance criteria, service contracts, notice period, severance fees, etc., stock option details, if any, and also to
determine the remuneration of the Non Executive Directors. It also reviews all other aspects of benefits and
compensation to employees throughout the Company including policies on the same.

Three meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held during the year. Attendance at meetings during the year:

Director No. of meetings attended
Mr. P. Murari 3
Mr. Ashok Dayal 2
Mr. Simon J Scarff 3
Mr. P. Dwarakanath 2

Remuneration Policy

Payment of Commission and Sitting Fees to the Non Executive Directors and payment of Salary, Commission and
Perquisites to the Wholetime Directors are made in accordance with industry norms and subject to the overall ceilings
imposed by the Companies Act, 1956 and other applicable statutes, if any. The basis is also determined by carrying

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT



14

out an annual analysis of the industry trends by an independent and reputed HR Management Consultant firm which
is scrutinized and recommended by the Remuneration Committee. Performance linked incentives and bonus paid to
the Wholetime Directors are determined on the basis of achievement of overall financial and other objectives set for
the company at the beginning of the year and the achievement of individual objectives.

The retirement age of the Wholetime directors of the Company is 60 years while for Non Executive Directors it is 75
years. The Notice period for the Wholetime Directors is three months’ notice on either side. The Service contracts are
in the range of 3 to 5 years.

Remuneration of Directors

Details of remuneration of the Directors for the financial year ended December 31, 2006:
(Rs.)

S. No. Name Designation/ Salary Benefits Performance Grand
Position Incentive Total

1. Mr. Nicholas J. Massey Managing Director 42,00,000 41,26,674 - 83,26,674
2. Mr. Gautam K. Chakraborty Director - Finance & 55,99,680 37,73,466 15,03,010 1,08,76,156

Information Technology
3. Mr. P.S. Mukherjee Director - Legal & 1,33,13,900 57,07,539 2,89,050 1,93,10,489

(till 30 April, 2006) Corporate Affairs
4. Mr. P. Dwarakanath Director - H.R. & 30,79,370 68,26,547 6,13,025 1,05,18,942

(till 31 July, 2006) Administration
5. Mr. David S Allen Director - Operations 1,48,387 3,71,806 - 5,20,193

(till 24 January, 2006)
6. Mr. Praveen K Gupta Director - Operations 47,14,482 25,09,600 11,57,665 83,81,747

(w.e.f. 24 January, 2006)

(Rs.)
S.No. Name Particulars Sitting Fees Commission Total
1. Mr. Ashok Dayal Non Executive Director - Independent 1,10,000 3,00,000 4,10,000
2. Mr. A.S. Lakshmanan Non Executive Director - Independent 40,000 1,33,970 1,73,970
3. Mr. Kunal Kashyap Non Executive Director - Independent 1,00,000 3,00,000 4,00,000
4. Mr. P. Murari Non Executive Director - Independent 1,00,000 3,00,000 4,00,000
5. Mr. Simon J. Scarff Non Executive Director 1,20,000 3,00,000 4,20,000
6. Mr. Subodh Bhargava Non Executive Director - Independent 80,000 3,00,000 3,80,000
7. Mr. P Dwarakanath Non Executive Director 20,000 1,25,000 1,45,000

(w.e.f. 1 August, 2006)

Shareholding of Non Executive Directors

None of the Non Executive Directors of the Company is holding any shares in the Company.

c) Investor Grievance Committee

The Investor Grievance Committee of the Company has three members. Till April 28, 2006, the Committee comprised
of Mr. Ashok Dayal, an Independent Director, as the Chairman of the Committee and Mr. Simon J. Scarff and Mr. P. S.
Mukherjee as the other two members. Upon the resignation of Mr. P. S. Mukherjee, the Committee was reconstituted
on April 28, 2006 when Mr. P. S. Mukherjee was replaced by Mr. P. Dwarakanath as a member.

Mr. Surinder Kumar, Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee and also as the Compliance Officer.

Terms of reference:

The functioning and terms of reference of the Committee are in conformity with the requirements of the Listing Agreement
with the Stock Exchanges with particular reference to transfer, dematerialisation, complaints of shareholders etc.

Four meetings of the Investor Grievance Committee were held during the year. Attendance at meetings during the
year:

Director No. of meetings attended
Mr. Ashok Dayal 3
Mr. Simon J Scarff 4
Mr. P. S. Mukherjee (till April 28, 2006) 2
Mr. P. Dwarakanath (w.e.f. April 28, 2006) 2

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT



15

The total number of complaints received and replied to the satisfaction of the shareholders during the year under review
were 612. The Company attends to the investors correspondence expeditiously and endeavours are made to send a
satisfactory reply within three days of receipt, except in cases that are constrained by disputes or legal impediments.
There are no pending share transfer complaints as on 31st December, 2006. The shares after transfer are despatched
within two days from their approval at the Share Transfer Committee.

GENERAL BODY MEETINGS

Particulars of last three AGMs

Year Date Time Venue Special Resolution passed

2004 April 30, 2004 10.00 a.m. Delisting of Shares of the Company
from the stock exchanges at Ludhiana,
Delhi, Kolkata and Chennai

2005 April 29, 2005 10.00 a.m. Payment of Commission and Sitting
Fees to Non Executive Directors except
those employed with GSK group of
Companies

2006 April 29, 2006 10.00 a.m. Payment of Commission and Sitting
Fees to Non Executive Directors except
those employed with GSK group of
Companies

Postal Ballot Resolution for Buy back

No Postal ballot resolution was passed during the year 2006. No special resolution requiring a postal ballot is being
proposed for the ensuing Annual General Meeting.

DISCLOSURE

• Materially significant related party transactions that may have potential conflict with the interests of Company at large
- During the year 2006, the Company has related party transactions as envisaged under the Corporate Governance
Code which have been mentioned in Note 26 under Schedule 16 to the Accounts.

• There has not been any non compliances, penalties or strictures imposed on the Company by any Stock Exchange or
SEBI or any statutory authority on any matter related to capital markets, during the last three years.

Whistle Blower Policy

The Company has formulated a Whistle Blower policy and procedure with an aim to deter and detect misconduct and to
ensure that genuine concerns of misconduct / unlawful conduct, which an individual believes may be taking place, are
raised at an early stage in a responsible and confidential manner. For the year 2006, the members of the Committee were
Mr. Nicholas J Massey, Managing Director, Mr. Gautam K Chakraborty, Director – Finance & IT, Mr. Praveen K Gupta,
Director – Operations, Mr. Surinder Kumar, VP – Legal, Corporate Affairs & Company Secretary and Mr. Arun Sehgal, VP
- HR & Administration. Apart from these members, the Committee has a Coordinator. The Audit Committee is kept
informed of all the proceedings of the Whistle Blower Committee at regular intervals.

Code of Conduct

The Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Conduct for Directors and Senior Management of the Company. An annual
affirmation of compliance with the Code of Conduct is taken from all the Directors and Senior Management members of
the Company to whom the Code applies. The Code of Conduct has also been posted at the website of the Company
www.gsk-ch.in. CEO’s affirmation that the Code of Conduct has been complied with by the Board of Directors and Senior
Management is given at the end of this report.

Policy for Insider Trading

The Company has a Policy for the Prevention of Insider trading in the securities of the Company. The policy applies to all
persons connected or deemed to be connected (Directors, officers and employees of the Company etc.) with the Company
who are required to comply with the same.

Compliance

Mandatory Requirements

The Company has followed all the mandatory requirements prescribed under Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Non Mandatory Requirements

Following non mandatory requirements of Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement have been complied with by the Company:

1. The Company has a Remuneration Committee whose composition is in conformity with the requirements of Clause
49. The details regarding composition and terms of reference of the Committee are given in this report.

2. The Company has adopted a Whistle Blower Policy, details of which regarding composition and terms of reference
are given in this report. It is affirmed that no member has been denied access to the Audit Committee and the Whistle
Blower Committee.

CEO & CFO Certification

The Certificate issued by the Managing Director and Director – Finance certifying the accuracy of the financial statements
and adequacy of internal controls for financial reporting, as required under Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement, forms
part of this Annual Report.

Management Discussion and Analysis Report setting out Opportunities and threats and also Risks and Concerns forms
part of the Directors Report and is reported in this Annual Report.

MEANS OF COMMUNICATIONS

Quarterly Results

Wide publicity is accorded to the Quarterly Results by publishing them in a widely circulated English daily (Financial
Express) and a Punjabi daily (Punjabi Tribune) as per the requirements of the Listing Agreement with the Stock Exchanges.
The results are also faxed to the Stock Exchanges where the Company is listed. The Company also has its own official
press releases in various newspapers through its Public Relations agency.

The Quarterly results of the Company are also displayed on the website of the Company at www.gsk-ch.in.

Half yearly Report to each household of shareholders

Half-yearly reports are provided to shareholders on a request being made to the Company in this regard.

Presentations made to institutional investors or to analysts

Regular meetings & teleconferences were held with the Financial Institutions, Foreign Institutional Investors and Analysts.
About six meetings and seven teleconferences were held during the year with different Financial Analysts. They are also
provided with a copy of the quarterly results after the same have been faxed to the Stock Exchanges.

GENERAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Annual General Meeting:

Date: The Forty Eighth Annual General Meeting is scheduled to be held on April 27, 2007
Time: 9.30 a.m.
Venue: Punjab Public School Auditorium, The Punjab Public School (Senior Wing), Nabha, 147 201 (Punjab)

Financial Year:  January 1, 2006 to December 31, 2006

Financial Calendar:

S.No. Particulars Date of Board meeting
1. Quarter ending March 31, 2007 End April, 2007
2. Quarter ending June 30, 2007 End July, 2007
3. Quarter ending September 30, 2007 End October 2007
4. Quarter ending December 31, 2007 End January 2008

Book closure:

The books will be closed for the purposes of the Annual General Meeting from April 18, 2007 to April 26, 2007 (both days
inclusive).

Dividend payment:

No final dividend has been recommended by the Board of Directors for the year ended 31st December, 2006. An interim
dividend of Rs. 10/- per equity share of Rs. 10/- each was paid to the shareholders for the year ended December 31,
2006.

Dividend Date of Declaration Date of Payment Rate per equity share

Interim October 26, 2006 November 23, 2006 Rs. 10/-

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Listing on Stock Exchanges and Stock Code:

The shares of the Company are listed at two Stock Exchanges in India, the addresses of which are given below:

Stock Exchange Stock Code

The Stock Exchange, Stock Exchange Towers, Dalal Street, Fort, Mumbai - 400 023 Physical 676
Demat 50676

The National Stock Exchange Ltd., Exchange Plaza, Bandra - Kurla Complex, GSKCONS
Bandra (East), Mumbai - 400 051

The Listing Fee for the year 2006-2007 has been paid to the Stock Exchanges where the shares of the Company
are listed.

Stock Market Data: High and Low during each month in last financial year from January, 2006 – December, 2006 on the
Stock Exchange, Mumbai

MONTH HIGH LOW MONTH HIGH LOW

January, 2006 623.00 536.60 July, 2006 508.95 471.05

February, 2006 669.85 598.10 August, 2006 530.00 470.00

March, 2006 728.35 615.00 September, 2006 550.00 496.00

April, 2006 710.00 587.00 October, 2006 567.95 500.00

May, 2006 679.00 480.00 November, 2006 670.00 525.00

June, 2006 589.90 403.00 December, 2006 592.00 531.05

Performance in comparison to BSE Sensex:

Registrar and Transfer Agents:

The Company does not have any Registrar and Transfer Agents as it has an in-house share transfer system including
Electronic connectivity for both NSDL and CDSL located at:

GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Ltd. DLF Plaza Tower, DLF City - I, Gurgaon – 122 002

The Company is also acting as the Share Transfer Agent for GlaxoSmithKline Pharmaceuticals Ltd.

Share transfer system:

The Company is working on the share package “COSAC” developed by Dolphin Infotek (Pvt.) Ltd. and is adequately
fulfilling our needs.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Taking the January 2006 indexed at 100, the BSE sensex moved to 147.74
through December 2006, whereas GSKCH moved to 101.28 during the same
period.
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Distribution of shareholding as on 31st December, 2006:

No. of Shares No. of Shareholders No. of Shares Percent of total shares
01 to 250 16,809 14,59,652 3.47
251 to 500 4,784 16,24,091 3.86
501 to 1000 1,487 10,43,577 2.48
1001 to 2000 442 6,35,705 1.51
2001 to 3000 136 3,37,356 0.80
3001 to 4000 73 2,60,169 0.62
4001 to 5000 44 1,96,976 0.47
5001 to 10000 114 8,32,927 1.98
10001 and above 130 3,56,65,085 84.80
In transit - - -
Total 24,019 4,20,55,538 100.00

S.No. Particulars No. of Shares Held Percent of shares held (rounded off)
1. Promoters - M/s Horlicks Limited 1,81,52,243 43.16
2. Mutual Funds & UTI 51,25,052 12.19
3. Banks, Financial Institutions &

Insurance Companies 67,31,420 16.00
4. Foreign Institutional Investors 17,07,261 4.06
5. Private Corporate Bodies 24,92,177 5.93
6. Indian Public 77,54,958 18.44
7. NRIs / OCBs 92,427 0.22
8. Any others - -

Total 4,20,55,538 100.00
Dematerialisation of shares and liquidity:
We have dematerialised 49.94% of our equity share capital, whilst 43.16% is held by Horlicks Ltd. in the physical form.
Therefore, apart from the Horlicks Ltd. holding, only 6.90% of the equity share capital is held in physical form.
Outstanding GDRs/ADRs/warrants or any convertible instruments, conversion date and likely impact on equity:
We have no GDRs/ADRs or any commercial instrument.
Plant locations:
Nabha Plant: GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Limited, Patiala Road, Nabha – 147 201 (Punjab).
Rajahmundry Plant: GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Limited, Industrial Area, Dowleswaram - 533 124,

(Andhra Pradesh).
Sonepat Plant: GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Limited, 14 km Stone, Sonepat – Meerut Road,

Village Khewra, P.O. Bahalgarh – 130 121, District Sonepat (Haryana).
Address for correspondence:
Registered Office: GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Limited, Patiala Road, Nabha – 147 201 (Punjab).
Head Office & Share Department: DLF Plaza Tower, DLF City, Phase I, Gurgaon – 122 002 (Haryana)
Name, Address and contact numbers of the Compliance Officer:
Surinder Kumar, Company Secretary, DLF Plaza Tower, DLF City, Phase I, Gurgaon - 122 002
Telephone: (0124) 409 7200 or (0124) 254 0724, Facsimile: (0124) 254 0734
Email for Investors: investor.2.co@gsk.com
Company’s website address: www.gsk-ch.in

For and on behalf of the Board
Place : Gurgaon Zubair Ahmed
Dated : January 31, 2007 Managing Director

Declaration as required under Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement

All Directors and Senior Management members of the Company have affirmed compliance with the Code of Conduct for
Directors and Senior Management of GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Limited for the financial year ended December
31, 2006.

Place : Gurgaon Zubair Ahmed
Dated : January 31, 2007 Managing Director

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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AUDITORS’ CERTIFICATE ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE CONDITIONS OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE UNDER
CLAUSE 49 OF THE LISTING AGREEMENT(S)

To the Members of GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Limited

We have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare
Limited (‘the Company’) for the year ended December 31, 2006 as stipulated in Clause 49 of the Listing Agreements of
the Company with stock exchanges in India.

The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
examination was carried out in accordance with the Guidance Note on Certification of Corporate Governance as stipulated
in Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and was limited to
procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring the compliance of the conditions of
Corporate Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us we certify that the Company
has complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the above mentioned Listing Agreements.

We state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency or
effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

V. Nijhawan
Partner

Membership No:F 87228
For and on behalf of

Place : Gurgaon Price Waterhouse
Dated : January 31, 2007 Chartered Accountants

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER & CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF GLAXOSMITHKLINE
CONSUMER HEALTHCARE LIMITED

We, Zubair Ahmed, Managing Director and Gautam K Chakraborty, Director – Finance & IT, to the best of our knowledge
and belief certify that:

1. We have reviewed the Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2006 as well as the cash flow statement as on that date and that to the best of our knowledge and belief:

a) these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain statements
that might be misleading;

b) these statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance with
existing accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations.

2. There are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the Company during the year
which are fraudulent, illegal or violative of the Company’s code of conduct.

3. We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for financial reporting and that we have
evaluated the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Company pertaining to financial reporting and we
have disclosed to the Auditors and the Audit Committee, deficiencies in the design or operation of such internal
controls, if any, of which we are aware and the steps taken or proposed to be taken to rectify these deficiencies.

4. We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit committee, wherever applicable:

a) significant changes in internal control over financial reporting during the year;

b) significant changes in accounting policies during the year and that the same have been disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements; and

c) instances of significant fraud of which we have become aware and the involvement therein, if any, of the
management or an employee having a significant role in the Company’s internal control system over financial
reporting.

Place : Gurgaon Gautam K Chakraborty Zubair Ahmed
Dated : January 31, 2007 Director – Finance and IT Managing Director
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TO THE MEMBERS OF GLAXOSMITHKLINE
CONSUMER HEALTHCARE LIMITED

1. We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of
GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Limited,
as at December 31, 2006, and the related Profit
and Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement for
the year ended on that date annexed thereto,
which we have signed under reference to this
repor t. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the
auditing standards generally accepted in India.
Those Standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of
mater ial misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report)
Order, 2003, as amended by the Companies
(Auditor’s Report) (Amendment) Order, 2004,
issued by the Central Government of India in terms
of sub-section (4A) of Section 227 of ‘The
Companies Act, 1956’ of India (the ‘Act’) and on
the basis of such checks of the books and records
of the Company as we considered appropriate and
according to the information and explanations
given to us, we give in the Annexure a statement
on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of
the said Order.

4. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred
to in paragraph 3 above, we report that:

(a) We have obtained all the information and
explanations, which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for
the purposes of our audit;

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as
required by law have been kept by the
Company so far as appears from our
examination of those books;

(c) The Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss
Account and Cash Flow Statement dealt
with by this report are in agreement with
the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the Balance Sheet, Profit and
Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement
dealt with by this report comply with the
accounting standards referred to in sub-
section (3C) of Section 211 of the Act;

(e) On the basis of written representations
received from the directors, as on
December 31, 2006 and taken on record
by the Board of Directors, none of the
directors is disqualified as on December 31,
2006 from being appointed as a director in
terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of
Section 274 of the Act;

(f) In our opinion and to the best of our
information and according to the
explanations given to us, the said financial
statements together with the notes thereon
and attached thereto give in the prescribed
manner the information required by the Act
and give a true and fair view in conformity
with the accounting principles generally
accepted in India:

(i) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of
the state of affairs of the Company as
at December 31, 2006;

(ii) in the case of the Profit and Loss
Account, of the profit for the year ended
on that date; and

(iii) in the case of the Cash Flow
Statement, of the cash flows for the
year ended on that date.

V. Nijhawan

Partner

Membership Number: F 87228

For and on behalf of

Place : Gurgaon Price Waterhouse
Dated : January 31, 2007 Chartered Accountants

ANNEXURE TO AUDITORS’ REPORT

[Referred to in paragraph 3 of the Auditors’ Report of
even date to the members of GlaxoSmithKline
Consumer Healthcare Limited on the financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2006]

1. (a) The Company is maintaining proper records
showing full particulars including quantitative
details and situation of fixed assets.

(b) The fixed assets are physically verified by the
management according to a phased
programme designed to cover all the items
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over a period of three years, which in our
opinion, is reasonable having regard to the
size of the Company and the nature of its
assets. Pursuant to the programme, a portion
of the fixed assets has been physically verified
by the management during the year and no
material discrepancies between the book
records and the physical inventory have been
noticed.

(c) In our opinion and according to the information
and explanations given to us, a substantial part
of fixed assets has not been disposed off by
the Company during the year.

2. (a) The inventory (excluding certain stocks with
third parties) has been physically verified by
the management during the year/year end. In
respect of inventory lying with third parties and
not physically verified, confirmations have
been obtained. In our opinion, the frequency
of verification is reasonable.

(b) In our opinion, the procedures of physical
verification of inventory followed by the
management are reasonable and adequate
in relation to the size of the Company and the
nature of its business.

(c) On the basis of our examination of the
inventory records, in our opinion, the Company
is maintaining proper records of inventory. The
discrepancies noticed on physical verification
of inventory as compared to book records
were not material.

3. (a) The Company has not granted any loans,
secured or unsecured, to companies, firms
or other par ties covered in the register
maintained under Section 301 of the Act,
accordingly clauses 3 (a) to (d) of the Order
are not applicable.

(b) The Company has not taken any loans,
secured or unsecured, from companies, firms
or other par ties covered in the register
maintained under Section 301 of the Act,
accordingly clauses 3 (e) to (g) of the Order
are not applicable.

4. In our opinion and according to the information
and explanations given to us, having regard to
the explanation that certain items purchased are
of special nature for which suitable alternative
sources do not exist for obtaining comparative
quotations, there is an adequate internal control
system commensurate with the size of the

Company and the nature of its business for the
purchase of inventory, fixed assets and for the
sale of goods and services. Further, on the basis
of our examination of the books and records of
the Company, and according to the information
and explanations given to us, we have neither
come across nor have been informed of any
continuing failure to correct major weaknesses in
the aforesaid internal control system.

5. According to the information and explanations
given to us, there have been no contracts or
arrangements referred to in Section 301 of the
Act during the year to be entered in the register
required to be maintained under that Section.

6. The Company has not accepted any deposits from
the public within the meaning of Sections 58A and
58AA of the Act and the rules framed there under.

7. In our opinion, the Company has an internal audit
system commensurate with its size and nature of
its business.

8. We have broadly reviewed the books of account
maintained by the Company in respect of products
where, pursuant to the Rules made by the Central
Government of India, the maintenance of cost
records has been prescribed under clause (d) of
sub-section (1) of Section 209 of the Act and are
of the opinion that prima facie, the prescribed
accounts and records have been made and
maintained. We have not, however, made a
detailed examination of the records with a view to
determine whether they are accurate or complete.

9. (a) According to the information and explanations
given to us and the records of the Company
examined by us, in our opinion, the Company
is generally regular in depositing the
undisputed statutory dues including provident
fund, investor education and protection fund,
employees’ state insurance, income-tax,
sales-tax, wealth tax, service tax, customs
duty, excise duty, cess and other material
statutory dues as applicable with the
appropriate authorities.

(b) According to the information and explanations
given to us and the records of the Company
examined by us, the particulars of dues of
income-tax, sales-tax, wealth tax, service tax,
customs duty, excise duty and cess as at
December 31, 2006 which have not been
deposited on account of disputes, are as
follows -
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Name of the Statute Nature of dues Amount under Period to Forum where
dispute not which the the dispute

yet deposited amount relates is pending
(Rs. Million)

Excise Duty

The Central Excise Additions for interest 7.10 2001 Customs, Excise,
Act, 1944 on duty on Freight & Service Tax Appellate

Insurance Tribunal (CESTAT,
New Delhi

The Central Excise Valuation Cases and 17.31 1977-2003 Customs, Excise,
Act, 1944 Other matters Service Tax Appellate

Tribunal (CESTAT),
various States

The Central Excise Valuation Cases and 65.72 1991-2004 First Appellate Authorities,
Act, 1944 and Other matters various States

The Central Excise Valuation cases-Post 6.46 1995-1997 Deputy Commissioner
Act, 1944 Manufacturing of Central Excise

Expenses
and Other matters

The Central Excise Valuation cases and 14.61 1992-2006 Additional Commissioner
Act, 1944 Other matters of Central Excise

The Central Excise Refund of duty and 373.37 2002-2006 Commissioner of
Act, 1944 Other matters Central Excise

Sub Total 484.57

Sales Tax

Andhra Pradesh Turnover Tax on 1.32 1997-1999 Andhra Pradesh
General Sales Tax Milk Purchases High Court
Act, 1957

Tamil Nadu General Additions on account 0.15 1990-1999 Madras High Court
Sales Tax Act, 1959 of concessional rates

of Tax

As per Statutes Addition on account 2.33 1983-2003 Sales Tax
applicable in the of Disallowance of Appellate
following states- Credit notes and Tribunal/Revenue
Chattisgarh, Madhya Others Board
Pradesh, Uttar Pradesh,
Orissa, Bihar, Tamil
Nadu, West Bengal
and Punjab

As per Statutes Miscellaneous 25.99 1999-2005 First Appellate
applicable in the demands Authorities of
following states-West various states
Bengal, Bihar, Orissa
Jharkhand, Rajasthan
and Uttar Pradesh

As per Statutes Miscellaneous 0.90 1996-2005 Adjudication Level
applicable in the demands
following states-
Uttar Pradesh, Punjab,
Kerela and New Delhi

Sub Total 30.69
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Name of the Statute Nature of dues Amount under Period to Forum where
dispute not which the the dispute

yet deposited amount relates is pending
(Rs. Million)

Income Tax

Income Tax Act, 1961 Additions made during 13.86 2000-01 Income Tax
Scrutiny assessment Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act, 1961 Additions made during 22.95 2004-05 Commissioner of
Scrutiny assessment Income Tax (Appeals)

Sub Total 36.81

Grand Total 552.07

Note: The above details exclude Departmental Appeals to higher authorities as there is no stay on the order of
lower authority favouring the Company and the amount is not ascertainable.

10. The Company has no accumulated losses as at
December 31, 2006 and it has not incurred any
cash losses in the financial year ended on that
date or in the immediately preceding financial
year.

11. According to the information and explanations
given to us and the records of the Company
examined by us, the Company has not availed
any loan from financial Institutions or banks or
debenture holders as at the balance sheet date.
Accordingly, there have been no defaults in
repayment of dues.

12. The Company has not granted any loans and
advances on the basis of security by way of
pledge of shares, debentures and other
securities.

13. The provisions of any special statute applicable
to chit fund/nidhi/mutual benefit fund/societies are
not applicable to the Company.

14. In our opinion, the Company is not a dealer or
trader in shares, securities, debentures and other
investments.

15. In our opinion and according to the information
and explanations given to us, the Company has
not given any guarantee for loans taken by others
from banks or financial institutions during the year.

16. The Company has not obtained any term loans.

17. On the basis of an overall examination of the
balance sheet of the Company, in our opinion and

according to the information and explanations
given to us, there are no funds raised on a short-
term basis which have been used for long-term
investment.

18. The Company has not made any preferential
allotment of shares to parties and Companies
covered in the register maintained under Section
301 of the Act during the year.

19. The Company has not issued any debentures
during the year. Accordingly, no securities or
charges have been created.

20. The Company has not raised any money by public
issues during the year.

21. During the course of our examination of the books
and records of the Company carried out in
accordance with the generally accepted auditing
practices in India, and according to the
information and explanations given to us, we have
neither come across any instance of fraud on or
by the Company, noticed or reported during the
year, nor have we been informed of such case
by the management.

V. Nijhawan

Partner

Membership Number: F 87228

For and on behalf of

Place : Gurgaon Price Waterhouse

Dated : January 31, 2007 Chartered Accountants
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BALANCE SHEET
OF

GLAXOSMITHKLINE CONSUMER HEALTHCARE LIMITED
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2006

Schedule As at As at
No. December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
(Rs.Million) (Rs. Million)

SOURCES OF FUNDS
SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

Share Capital 1 420.56 420.56

Reserves and Surplus 2 5,006.63 4,330.56

5,427.19 4,751.12

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (net) 240.67 276.00

[Schedule 16 (Notes 1(i) (b), 18)]

5,667.86 5,027.12

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

FIXED ASSETS

Gross Block 3 5,216.87 5,069.10

Less: Depreciation 2,703.23 2,339.50

Net Block 2,513.64 2,729.60

Capital Work in Progress 65.28 108.29

2,578.92 2,837.89

INVESTMENTS 4 2,196.80 0.01

CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS AND ADVANCES

Inventories 5 1,455.73 1,310.39

Sundry Debtors 6 280.85 241.15

Cash and Bank Balances 7 479.16 1,857.96

Other Current Assets 8 159.41 159.90

Loans and Advances 9 602.50 448.49

2,977.65 4,017.89

Less: CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS

Current Liabilities 10 1,882.29 1,765.83

Provisions 11 203.22 62.84

2,085.51 1,828.67

NET CURRENT ASSETS 892.14 2,189.22

5,667.86 5,027.12

Notes to the Accounts 16

This is the Balance Sheet referred The schedules referred to above form an
to in our report of even date. integral part of the Balance Sheet.

V.Nijhawan S.J.Scarff Gautam K.Chakraborty
Partner Chairman Kunal Kashyap
Membership No.: F 87228 Directors
For and on behalf of Zubair Ahmed
Price Waterhouse Managing Director
Chartered Accountants

Place : Gurgaon Surinder Kumar
Dated : January 31, 2007 Company Secretary
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
OF

GLAXOSMITHKLINE CONSUMER HEALTHCARE LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006

Schedule Year ended Year ended
No. December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
(Rs.Million) (Rs. Million)

INCOME
Sales [Schedule 16 (Notes 1(h) and 6)] 12,142.53 10,890.17
Less: Excise Duty 1,023.17 11,119.36 1,221.69 9,668.48
Other Income 12 521.80 243.07

11,641.16 9,911.55

EXPENDITURE
Consumption of Raw Materials 2,750.54 2,502.89
Purchased Finished Goods - 15.74
Packing Material Expenses 1,115.59 998.91
Employees’ Cost 13 1,346.65 1,144.64
Expenses 14 4,119.85 3,565.00
Depreciation / Amortization 3
- On Patents and Trade Marks 46.06 46.06
- On Other Fixed Assets 381.03 427.09 372.44 418.50
Adjustment due to  (Increase)/Decrease in
Stock of Finished Goods and Goods in Process 15 (24.21) (358.33)

9,735.51 8,287.35

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 1,905.65 1,624.20
Tax for the year - Current Tax 621.50 589.71

- Deferred Tax Charge / (Credit) (35.33) (43.81)
- Fringe Benefits Tax 50.40 41.60
- Adjustment relating to

previous years (0.25) (34.81)
Schedule 16 [Notes 1(i) and 18]

PROFIT AFTER TAX 1,269.33 1,071.51

APPROPRIATIONS:
Dividend

- Interim 420.56 336.44
Corporate Dividend Tax 58.98 47.19
Transferred to General Reserve 789.79 687.88

1,269.33 1,071.51
Earnings Per Share (Nominal value of Rs.10 each)
Basic/Diluted (Rs.) [Schedule 16 (Note 20)] 30.18 24.84

Notes to the Accounts 16

This is the Profit and Loss Account referred The schedules referred to above form an
to in our report of even date. integral part of the Profit and Loss Account.

V.Nijhawan S.J.Scarff Gautam K.Chakraborty
Partner Chairman Kunal Kashyap
Membership No.: F 87228 Directors
For and on behalf of Zubair Ahmed
Price Waterhouse Managing Director
Chartered Accountants

Place : Gurgaon Surinder Kumar
Dated : January 31, 2007 Company Secretary
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
OF

GLAXOSMITHKLINE CONSUMER HEALTHCARE LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER  31, 2006

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
(Rs. Million) (Rs. Million)

A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 1,905.65 1,624.20

Add : Depreciation / Amortization

- On Patents and Trade Marks 46.06 46.06

- On Other Fixed Assets 381.03 372.44

Provision for Doubtful Debts 1.19 0.02

Advances written off 2.94 0.72

Provision for Stock obsolescence - 6.10

Stocks Written Off 7.18 5.67

Interest Expense 35.32 42.18

Loss on Sale of Fixed Assets (net) 3.49 4.36

Less : Interest Income 73.69 89.05

Dividend received 56.61 -
Release of accruals 83.70 58.24

Exchange Fluctuation Gain/(Loss) [Unrealised] (1.31) (0.87)

Operating Profit Before Working Capital Changes 2,170.17 1,955.33

Add/(Less): (Increase)/Decrease in Current Assets

Sundry Debtors (41.66) 10.34

Loans and Advances (87.08) 38.55

Other Current Assets (3.23) (3.01)

Inventories (152.52) (470.48)

Add/(Less): Increase/(Decrease) in Current Liabilities and Provisions

Current Liabilities and Provisions 241.81 98.83

Cash Generated from Operations 2,127.49 1,629.56

Less: Income Tax paid (excludes tax deducted at source) 741.51 644.80

- Current Tax 692.11 618.20

- Fringe Benefits Tax 49.40 26.60

Net Cash flow from Operating Activities 1,385.98 984.76

B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of Fixed Assets /

Additions to Capital Work in Progress (193.26) (208.58)

Sale proceed of Fixed Assets 8.80 8.90

Interest Received 77.10 93.74

Dividend Received 56.61 -

Purchase of Investments (net) (2,196.80) -

Net Cash flow from Investing Activities (2,247.55) (105.94)
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
OF

GLAXOSMITHKLINE CONSUMER HEALTHCARE LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER  31, 2006

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
(Rs. Million) (Rs. Million)

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interest Paid (32.06) (41.52)

Dividends Paid (425.96) (334.31)

Dividend Tax Paid (58.98) (47.18)

Buy Back of Share Capital - (1,230.28)

Net cash flow from Financing Activities (517.00) (1,653.29)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,378.57) (774.47)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and Bank Balances 1,857.96 2,632.28

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year

Cash and Bank Balances 479.16 1,857.96

Exchange Fluctuation (Gain)/ Loss 0.23 (0.15)

479.39 1,857.81

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,378.57) (774.47)

Notes:

1. The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in the Accounting
Standard-3 on Cash Flow Statement issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

2. Cash and Cash equivalents include balances with Scheduled Banks on Dividend accounts - Rs 11.63
million (Previous Year Rs 17.04 Million), Rs Nil in Margin Money (Previous Year - Rs 0.23 Million) and Rs
0.11 Million (Previous Year Rs 0.11 Million) lodged as Security Deposits, which are not available for use
by the company.

3. Notes to the Accounts (Schedule 16) form an integral part of the Cash Flow Statement.

4. Previous Year’s figures have been regrouped wherever necessary to conform to the current year’s
classification.

This is the Cash Flow Statement referred to in our report of even date.

V.Nijhawan S.J.Scarff Gautam K.Chakraborty
Partner Chairman Kunal Kashyap
Membership No.: F 87228 Directors
For and on behalf of Zubair Ahmed
Price Waterhouse Managing Director
Chartered Accountants

Place : Gurgaon Surinder Kumar
Dated : January 31, 2007 Company Secretary
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SCHEDULES

FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS
As at As at

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

(Rs.Million) (Rs. Million)

1. SHARE CAPITAL

AUTHORISED

60,000,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each 600.00 600.00

ISSUED AND SUBSCRIBED

42,055,538 (Previous Year 45,380,621) Equity

Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid-up 420.56 453.81

Less - Nil ( Previous Year - 3,325,083 ) Equity Shares of

Rs. 10 each fully paid up, bought back. - 33.25

420.56 420.56

Notes:

1. 217,386 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each were allotted
as fully paid-up pursuant to a contract  for
consideration other than cash.

2. 27,760,539 Equity Shares of Rs.10 each were allotted as
fully paid-up bonus shares by capitalisation of reserves
Rs. 271.00 Million and share premium Rs. 6.60 Million in the
year 1995.

3. 17,017,733 Equity Shares of Rs.10 each were allotted as
fully paid-up bonus shares by capitalisation of reserves
Rs.170.18 Million in the year 1997.

4. 3,325,083 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully Paid up
were bought back by capitalisation of reserves
Rs.33.25 Million in the year 2005.

2. RESERVES AND SURPLUS

GENERAL RESERVE

As per last Balance Sheet 4,297.31 4,839.71

Less : Utilisation on account of Buy Back - (1,197.03)

Less : Transferred to Capital Redemption Reserve - (33.25)

4,297.31 3,609.43

Less : Transitional adjustment for Employee Benefits*
as at January 1,2006 (113.72) 4,183.59 -

Transferred from Profit and Loss Account 789.79 687.88

4,973.38 4,297.31

CAPITAL REDEMPTION RESERVE

As per last Balance Sheet 33.25 -

Add : Transferred from General Reserve - 33.25 33.25

5,006.63 4,330.56

*Schedule 16 [Notes 1(g), Note 17(a)]
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SCHEDULES

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
(Rs.Million) (Rs. Million)

4. INVESTMENTS
Long Term Investments (Non-Trade) Unquoted

Government Securities at Cost
7 - Year National Savings Certificates
(Lodged with Government Authorities) 0.01 0.01
Short Term Investments ( Non-Trade) Unquoted - Investments in Mutual Funds*

ABN AMRO Fixed Term Plan - Series 4 - Quarterly
Plan B- Dividend Payout  15,000,000 units
Purchased during the year 15,000,000 units 150.00 -

DWS -Fixed Term Fund-Series 22 Dividend Plan  10,000,000 units
Purchased during the year 10,000,000 units 100.00 -

HDFC FMP 90 Days Dec 06 (2) Dividend Wholesale
- Dividend  8,500,000 units
Purchased during the year 8,500,000 units 85.00 -

Standard Chartered FMP Qs-2 Dividend   5,000,000 units
Purchased during the year 5,000,000 units 50.00 -

Principal FMP- 32- 91 Days- Series VI Dividend Payout  10,000,000 units
Purchased during the year 10,000,000 units 100.00 -

SBI Debt Fund Series- 180 Days (August 2006)
7,648,527 units of Rs. 10 each
Purchased during the year 7,648,527 units 76.49 -

Standard Chartered Liquidity Manager Plus
- Daily Dividend  240,896 units
Purchased during the year 585,862 units
Sold during the year 344,966 Units 240.92 -

FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS

3. FIXED ASSETS *
(Rs.Million)

GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION / AMORTISATION NET BLOCK
Cost as at Additions Deductions Cost as at Upto During On Upto As at As at

January during during December December the Year Deductions December December December
1, 2006 the Year the Year 31, 2006 31, 2006 31, 2006 31, 2006 31, 2005

Tangible Assets

Land (Freehold) 22.51 - - 22.51 -                  - - - 22.51 22.51
Buildings*** 865.13 29.65 0.41 894.37 135.68 26.95 0.14 162.49 731.88 729.45
Plant & Machinery ** 2,830.54 92.57 14.23 2,908.88 1,277.47 267.93 13.36 1,532.04 1,376.84 1,553.07
Information Technology
Equipments 287.76 37.45 30.47 294.74 256.73 22.34 30.35 248.72 46.02 31.03
Furniture & Fittings 102.90 6.83 2.36 107.37 59.61 9.57 1.53 67.65 39.72 43.29
Office Equipment 163.00 27.68 13.33 177.35 71.87 23.93 7.64 88.16 89.19 91.13
Motor Vehicles 80.70 27.48 14.86 93.32 35.43 15.67 10.34 40.76 52.56 45.27
Leasehold Improvements 52.39 1.77 - 54.16 26.62 14.64 - 41.26 12.90 25.77

Intangible Assets
Patent and Trade
Marks *** 664.17 - - 664.17 476.09 46.06 - 522.15 142.02 188.08

5,069.10 223.43 75.66 5,216.87 2,339.50 427.09 63.36 2,703.23 2,513.64 2,729.60

Previous Year 4,973.27 160.48 64.65 5,069.10 1,972.39 418.51 51.40 2,339.50

Capital Work in Progress includes Capital Advances - Rs 9.55 Million (Previous Year Rs 13.09 Million) 65.28 108.29
2,578.92 2,837.89

* Schedule 16  [Notes 1(b), 21]

** Includes Rs.6.45 Million (Previous Year Rs.6.45 Million) paid to State Electricity Board for electrical installations not represented by physical assets owned
by the Company and depreciated over a period of 5 years.

 ***   Includes Dwelling Units valuing Rs 12.39 Million (Previous Year Rs 12.39 Million) and Patents and Trade Marks valuing Rs. 664.17 Million (Previous Year
- Rs. 664.17 Million) for which registration is awaited.
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As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
(Rs.Million) (Rs. Million)

Standard Chartered Liquidity Manager
- Daily Dividend  15,009,361 units
Purchased during the year 15,009,361 units 150.11 -

DSP Merrill Lynch Liquid Plus- Institutional Plan  244,106 units
Purchased during the year  344,324 units
Sold during the year 100,218 Units 244.14 -

HSBC Liquid Plus- Regular- Daily Dividend 30,139,391 units
Purchased during the year 30,139,391 units 301.40 -

Principal Cash Mangement Liquid Institutional Plus  15,083,012 units
Purchased during the year 37,081,472 units
Sold during the year 21,998,460 Units 150.83 -

DWS Money Plus Fund- Daily  17,075,648 units
Purchased during the year 17,075,648 units 170.90 -

DWS Insta Cash Plus Fund- Institutional Plan
- Daily Dividend  5,021,664 units
Purchased during the year 34,063,994 units
Sold during the year 29,042,330 Units 50.31 -

Franklin Templeton  TMA Super Institutional Plan 80,381 units
Purchased during the year 270,333 units
Sold during the year 189,952 Units 80.40 -

Templeton Floating Rate Income Fund Long Term Institutional
Plan Dividend 18,776,427 units
Purchased during the year 18,776,427 units
Sold during the year 9,980,538 Units 194.16 -

Pru ICICI Floating Rate Plan D - Daily Dividend 5,212,288 units
Purchased during the year 33,212,288 units
Sold during the year 28,000,000 Units 52.13 -

Aggregate value of  Unquoted Investments 2,196.80 0.01

* Schedule 16 [Notes 1(d), 16]

5. INVENTORIES *

(At lower of Cost and Net Realisable Value)

Raw Materials [Includes Goods in Transit Rs.9.97

Million (Previous Year- Rs.4.56 Million)] 225.98 181.91

Packing Materials [Includes Promotional material

Rs.66.92 Million (Previous Year Rs.13.36 Million)] 141.22 82.65

Goods in Process 78.90 92.39

Finished Goods 919.35 897.80

Less : Provision for Obsolescence - 919.35 6.10 891.70

Stores and Spare parts 83.91 55.68

By-products (at Net Realisable Value) 6.37 6.06

1,455.73 1,310.39

* Schedule 16 [Notes 1(e), 23]

SCHEDULES

FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS
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SCHEDULES

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
(Rs.Million) (Rs. Million)

6. SUNDRY DEBTORS *

Over six months

Secured - Considered good 1.63 2.08

Unsecured - Considered good 3.32 5.34
Unsecured - Considered doubtful 9.60 18.39

Less: Provision for doubtful debts (9.60) 4.95 (18.39) 7.42

Others

Secured - Considered good 135.72 131.42

Unsecured - Considered good 140.18 275.90 102.31 233.73

280.85 241.15

* Schedule 16 [ Note 23]

7. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and cheques in hand 0.30 0.88

With Scheduled Banks:

On Current accounts 352.12 304.70

On Dividend accounts 11.63 17.04

On Margin Money - 0.23

On Fixed Deposit Accounts 115.00 1,535.00

With Post Office in Savings Bank Accounts (Lodged
as security deposits) [Maximum amount during the year
Rs.0.11  Million (Previous Year Rs 0.11 Million)] 0.11 0.11

479.16 1,857.96

8. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Interest accrued on Fixed Deposit Accounts / Loans 2.45 5.86

Others Receivables 83.01 54.23

Security Deposits 73.95 99.81

159.41 159.90

9. LOANS AND ADVANCES

(Considered Good, unless otherwise stated)

Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for

value to be received *

- Unsecured 293.68 208.87

- Secured 26.13 24.83

Balances with Excise authorities 18.57 20.36

Advance Tax [net of Provision Rs.4,665.26 Million
(Previous Year Rs.4,043.86 Million)] 264.12 194.43

602.50 448.49
*  Includes amount due from Directors/
Officers of the Company. - -

Maximum amount outstanding during the Year 1.57 0.79

FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS
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SCHEDULES

FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
(Rs.Million) (Rs. Million)

10. CURRENT LIABILITIES *
Sundry Creditors

- Total outstanding dues of small scale industrial
undertakings* 6.95 30.72

- Total outstanding dues of creditors other than
small scale industrial undertakings 1,234.18 1,088.34

Other Liabilities 273.92 304.41
Advances from Customers 26.26 31.38
Trade Security Deposits 329.35 293.94
Unclaimed Dividend 11.63 17.04

1,882.29 1,765.83
* Schedule 16 [Note 24]

11. PROVISIONS*
Fringe Benefits Tax
[Net of Advance Tax - Rs.76 Million 16.00 15.00
(Previous Year - Rs.26.60 Million)]
Employee Benefits 187.22 47.84

203.22 62.84
* Schedule 16 [Notes 1(g), 1(i), 1(l), 17]

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
(Rs.Million) (Rs. Million)

12. OTHER INCOME *
Miscellaneous Sales 34.22 29.64
Selling Commission 7.86 32.61
Business Auxillary Service Commission 221.60 -
Insurance and other claims 24.36 23.93
Miscellaneous Income 19.76 9.35
Release of accruals 83.70 58.24
Exchange fluctuations (net) - 0.25
Interest Income (gross)
[Tax Deducted at Source Rs.14.53 Million
(Previous Year Rs.18.26 Million)]

- Loans/Deposits 1.09 2.76
- Bank Deposits 69.25 83.98
- Income tax refunds 2.13 0.01
- Others 1.22 73.69 2.30 89.05

Dividend Income on Non-Trade
Current Investments (Unquoted) 56.61 -

521.80 243.07
* Schedule 16 [ Notes 1(c ),1(h),15]

13. EMPLOYEES’ COST*
Salaries, Wages and Bonus 986.18 893.17
Contribution to Provident and Other Funds 171.75 151.63
Welfare Expenses 205.86 169.68
Less : recoveries made (17.14) (69.84)

1,346.65 1,144.64
* Schedule 16 [Notes 15, 17, 22, 27]
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SCHEDULES

FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
(Rs.Million) (Rs. Million)

14. EXPENSES *
Stores and Spare Parts consumed 9.62 9.39
Conversion charges to third parties 482.87 448.23
Repairs & Maintenance

-  Buildings 18.03 19.98
-  Plant & Machinery 76.90 56.53
-  Others 36.46 37.13

Power and fuel 299.30 273.43
Rent (including Lease Rent) 91.55 95.44
Rates and taxes 151.45 179.96
Insurance 63.11 64.75
Travelling 102.52 96.57
Carriage and freight 576.17 453.80
Service charges paid to selling agents 0.97 1.19
Discounts - Sales 48.39 42.86
Donations 4.44 3.56
Advertising and Promotions 1,431.58 1,263.01
Royalty 464.91 380.53
Loss on sale of Fixed Assets 3.49 4.36
Exchange fluctuations (net) 2.00 -
Scientific Research and Development 8.93 10.28
Interest Expense - Others 35.32 42.18
Provision for Doubtful Debts 1.19 0.01
Advances Written Off 2.94 0.72
Provision for Obsolescence for Inventories - 6.10
Stock written off 7.18 5.67
Other General Expenses 243.26 247.58
Less : Recoveries made (42.73) (178.26)

4,119.85 3,565.00

* Schedule 16 [Notes 1(c ),1(f),1(j),1(k), 5, 9, 10, 15]

15. ADJUSTMENT DUE TO (INCREASE) / DECREASE  IN
STOCK OF FINISHED GOODS AND GOODS IN PROCESS
Opening Stock

Finished Goods 891.70 553.33
Goods in Process 92.39 51.11
Purchased Finished Goods - 0.08
By-products 6.06 990.15 4.72 609.24

Less: Closing Stock
Finished Goods 919.35 891.70
Goods in Process 78.90 92.39
By-products 6.37 1,004.62 6.06 990.15

Excise duty adjustment for movement
in Finished Goods inventory (9.74) 22.58

Net (Increase)/Decrease (24.21) (358.33)
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16. NOTES TO ACCOUNTS

1. Significant Accounting Policies:

a. Accounting Convention

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention on an accrual basis and in
accordance with the mandatory Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
India and the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 1956.

b. Fixed Assets and Depreciation / Amortisation

All tangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes all
incidental expenditure net of CENVAT wherever applicable. The Company follows the Straight Line Method
of charging depreciation, on all its tangible fixed assets, on pro-rata basis except for assets costing less
than and upto Rs.5,000 which are fully depreciated in the year of purchase. The Company has provided
depreciation at higher of the rates determined by the management or those specified in Schedule XIV to
the Companies Act, 1956. The depreciation rates which are different from the principal rates specified in
Schedule XIV to the Companies Act, 1956 are as follows : -

(Rates in Percentages)

Assets acquired Assets acquired Assets acquired Assets acquired

after December 31, after April 30, after March 31, upto March 31,

1994 1986 but upto 1983 but upto 1983

December 31, 1994  April 30, 1986

Buildings

- Factory - - 3.5 2/3.5/5.5

- Non – factory 2 / 6.67 2 2 2/2.5

- Tubewells 10 10 10 10/100

Plant and Machinery

- Triple Shift 12.5 12.5 - -

- Double Shift 10/12.5 10/12.5 - -

- Single Shift 10/12.5/20/33.33 10/12.5 - -

Information Technology
Equipment 25/33.33 25 25 25

Motor Vehicles 14.28/20 14.28/20 14.28/20 14.28/20/25

Furniture and Fittings 10/20 10/20 10/20 10/20

Office Equipment 10/12.5 10 10 10

Patents and Trade Marks (Intangible Assets) are accounted at their cost of acquisition and amortized over
their estimated economic life not exceeding 10 years. Leasehold improvements are charged to the Profit
and Loss Account over the primary period of lease. At each Balance Sheet date, the Company assesses
whether there is any indication that assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Company
estimates the recoverable amount. If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount,
an impairment loss is recognized in the accounts to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable
amount. Also Refer Notes (c), (j) below.

c. Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions in Foreign Exchange other than those covered by forward contracts are accounted for at the
exchange rates prevailing on the date of transactions. The exchange differences arising out of the
settlements, other than those on liabilities relating to fixed assets acquired outside India are dealt with in
the Profit and Loss Account. Foreign currency assets and liabilities other than those covered by forward
contracts are revalued at the year end rates. Resultant gains or losses are recognized in the Profit and
Loss account except exchange differences arising on settlement and/or translation of foreign currency
liabilities on acquisition of fixed assets which are adjusted against the carrying costs of corresponding fixed
assets.

SCHEDULES

FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS



35

SCHEDULES

d. Investments

Long term Investments are stated at cost less provision, if any, for diminution in the value of such investments
other than temporary. Current investments are valued at lower of cost and net realizable/fair value.

e. Inventories

Inventories are valued at lower of cost and net realizable value, except for ghee, a by-product, which is
valued at selling price. Cost is determined on the basis of the weighted average method. It includes all the
appropriate allocable overheads and excise duty wherever applicable.

f. Research and Development

The revenue expenditure is charged against the profits for the year in which it is incurred. Capital expenditure
is accounted in the same way as fixed assets.

g. Employee Benefits

The Company has Defined Contribution plans for post employment benefits namely Provident Fund and
Superannuation Fund which are recognized by the income tax authorities. These funds are administered
through trustees and the Company’s contributions thereto are charged to revenue every year. The Company
also pays insurance premiums to fund a post-employment medical assistance scheme, a Defined
Contribution plan administered by NIC (National Insurance Company) on the basis of an actuarial valuation
as at the year end. The Company’s contributions to State plans namely Employee’s State Insurance Fund
and Employee’s Pension Scheme 1995 are charged to revenue every year.

The Company has Defined Benefit plans namely leave encashment /compensated absences for workers
and Gratuity for all employees, the liability for which is determined on the basis of an actuarial valuation at
the end of the year. Gratuity Fund is recognized by the income tax authorities and is administered through
trustees.

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense immediately. Actuarial gains and losses comprise
experience adjustments and the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions and are recognised immediately
in the Profit and Loss Account as income or expense.

In the year of transition, the difference between transitional liability and the liability that would have been
recognized at the beginning of the financial year under the Company’s previous accounting policy is adjusted
against the opening revenue reserves of the financial year in accordance with Accounting Standard AS 15
(revised 2005) ‘Employee Benefits’.

h. Revenue Recognition

Sales comprise of value of sale of goods (net of returns) excluding sales tax and discounts but including
excise duty. Sales are recognized at the point of despatch to the customers. Insurance claims are recognized
on accrual basis. Dividend income is accounted for in the year in which the right to receive the same is
established. Interest on Investments is booked on a time proportion basis taking into account the amounts
invested and the fixed rate of interest.

i. Taxation

Tax expense/(saving) is the aggregate of current year tax and deferred tax charged/(credited) to the Profit
and Loss Account for the year.

a) Current  Tax

Provision for taxation is based on assessable profits of the Company as determined under the Income
Tax Act, 1961. The Company also provides for such disallowances made on completion of assessments
pending appeals, as considered appropriate depending on the merits of each case. Provision for
taxation for the Company’s financial year ended December 31, 2006 has been determined based on
the results for 3 months ended March 31, 2006 (Assessment Year 2006-2007) and for the 9 months
ended December 31, 2006 (Assessment Year 2007-2008). The ultimate liability for the Assessment
Year 2007-2008, however, will be determined on the total income of the Company for the year ending
on March 31, 2007.

b) Deferred Tax

Deferred tax assets & liabilities resulting from timing differences between book profits and tax profits
are accounted for under the liability method and measured at substantially enacted rates of tax at the

FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS
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Balance Sheet date to the extent that there is reasonable/virtual certainty that sufficient future taxable
income will be available against which such deferred tax asset/liability can be realized.

c) Fringe Benefits Tax

Provision for Fringe Benefits Tax has been made in respect of employee benefits and other specified
expenses as determined under the Income Tax Act, 1961.

j. Borrowing Costs

The interest on working capital management is charged against the profits for the year in which it is
incurred. Interest on borrowings for capital assets is capitalized till the date of commencement of commercial
use of the asset.

k. Leases

Lease rentals in respect of asset taken on cancellable operating leases are charged to the Profit and Loss
Account on straight line basis over the term of the lease.

l. Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

A provision is recognized when there is a present obligation as a result of past events for which it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and in respect of which a
reliable estimate can be made. These are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the
current best estimates.

Contingent liabilities are disclosed after an evaluation of the facts and legal aspects of the matters involved.

As at At at
December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
(Rs. Million) (Rs. Million)

2. a. Estimated amount of Contracts remaining to be executed

on Capital account (net of Capital advances) and not provided for 38.63 35.55

b. Contingent Liabilities not provided for :

- Cheques under Cash Management System
(as at the date of signing of the Financial Statements) - 257.33

- In respect of contractual obligations to Contract Packers
where future cash flows are determinable only on receipt of
judgment / decisions pending with the respective authority. - 17.56

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
(Rs. Million) (Rs. Million)

3. Managerial Remuneration

Amount paid/ payable to Directors:

Salaries and allowances (including Termination Benefits) 46.33 34.98

Contribution to Provident and other Funds 3.44 14.06

Value of Perquisites 8.16 11.22

Directors’ sitting fees 0.57 0.57

Commission to Non-Executive Directors 1.76 1.20

60.26 62.03

Note:

i. The contribution to Gratuity Fund and Post Employment Medical assistance has been made on a group basis
based on an actuarial valuation and separate figures applicable to an individual employee are not available
and accordingly, the same has not been considered in the above computation.
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Computation of Net Profits under Section 198/349 of the Companies Act, 1956 and calculation of Commission
payable to Non-Executive Directors

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
(Rs. Million) (Rs. Million)

Profit before Taxation 1,905.65 1,624.20
Add: Directors’ Remuneration 57.93 60.26

Directors’ sitting fees 0.57 0.57
Commission to Non-Executive Directors 1.76 1.20
Provision for doubtful debts 1.19 0.01
Voluntary Retirement Scheme 53.62 -
Compensation paid to third parties 17.50 -
Provision for Stock obsolescence - 6.10
Loss on sale of fixed assets (net) 3.49 4.36

Less:  Provision for Stock obsolescence written back / adjusted (6.10) -
Provision for Doubtful Debts adjusted (8.79) -

Net Profits under section 198/349 on which Commission is payable 2,026.82 1,696.70

Commission payable to Non-Executive Directors:
Maximum allowed as per the Companies Act, 1956 at 1% 20.27 16.97
Restricted by the Board of Directors to 1.76 1.20

Note: The Company depreciates its fixed assets based on estimated useful lives that in certain cases are lower
than those implicit in Schedule XIV of the Companies Act, 1956. Accordingly, the rates of depreciation
used by the Company in such cases are higher than the minimum rates prescribed by Schedule XIV.

4. Provisions and/or payments in respect of Auditors’ Remuneration
(i) Statutory Audit * 1.80 1.43
(ii) Tax Audit * 1.32 1.10
(iii) In other capacity * 1.26 1.43
(iv) Out-of-Pocket expenses 0.66 0.74
* (includes service tax) 5.04 4.70

5. Expenditure indicated below allocated to other Revenue Accounts
Consumption of Stores and Spare Parts 153.16 156.00
Insurance 26.76 25.97
Scientific Research and Development 89.29 73.92

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

Unit Quantity Value Quantity Value
(Rs. Million) (Rs. Million)

6. Sales / Turnover
Class of Goods :
(i) Malt Based food/ Malted

Food ** DOZS* 11,484,731 11,557.44 10,752,701 10,334.98
(ii) Biscuits DOZS* 7,633,427 500.77 6,940,742 452.98
(iii) Ghee (By product) MT 511 68.18 593 76.26
(iv) Milk MT 1,326 14.85 1,692 19.13
(v) RTD (Traded) TH - - 378 3.79
(vi) Others 1.29 3.03

12,142.53 10,890.17

*Converted into uniform pack size
** Includes traded quantities of Malt Based Food / Malted Food
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7. Details of Purchased Finished Goods :

Opening stock Purchases Closing Stock*

As on As on Year Ended Year Ended As on As on
January 1, 2006 January 1, 2005 December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005 December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

Unit Quantity Value Quantity Value Quantity Value Quantity Value Quantity Value Quantity Value
(Rs. Million) (Rs. Million) (Rs. Million) (Rs. Million) (Rs. Million) (Rs. Million)

Malt Based Food /

Malted Food MT Nil Nil 0.17 0.01 Nil Nil 161.00 9.32 Nil Nil Nil Nil

RTD (Traded) TH Nil Nil 9.27 0.06 Nil Nil 884.04 6.42 Nil Nil Nil Nil

Nil 0.07 Nil 15.74 Nil Nil

* net of samples, internal consumption and other stock losses.

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

Unit Quantity Value Quantity Value
(Rs. Million) (Rs. Million)

8. Raw Materials Consumed (Refer Note 10)

(Includes goods processed by third parties)

Milk Powder MT 6,090 624.07 6,275 535.66

Liquid Milk MT 45,719 626.27 51,573 581.42

Malt and Malt Extract MT 39,160 666.51 41,400 615.43

Flour (Wheat) MT 24,128 297.73 23,394 231.80

Others 648.32 617.63

2,862.90 2,581.94

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

Percentage Value Percentage Value
(Rs. Million) (Rs. Million)

9. Imported  and  Indigenous Raw Materials,
Spare Parts and Stores consumed:

(a) Raw Materials (Refer Note 10):

Imported 1.08 30.82 1.83 47.27

Indigenous 98.92 2,832.08 98.17 2,534.67

100.00 2,862.90 100.00 2,581.94

(b) Spare Parts and Stores (Refer Note 5):

Imported 0.01 0.01 1.15 1.89

Indigenous 99.99 162.77 98.85 163.50

100.00 162.78 100.00 165.39

10.Raw Materials consumed as shown under Notes 8 and 9 (a) above includes Rs.97.18 Million (Previous Year
Rs.55.75 Million) being the cost of materials consumed on samples used for promotional purposes included
under Advertising and Promotion expenses (Schedule 14), Rs.15.18 Million (Previous Year Rs.17.20 Million)
being the cost of stock breakages recoverable from Insurance company.
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Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,

 2006 2005
(Rs. Million) (Rs. Million)

11.Value of Imports calculated on C.I.F. basis:

Raw Materials 24.23 44.07

Spares 0.64 0.13

Capital Goods 3.55 9.90

28.42 54.10

12.Expenditure in Foreign Currency on account of (on Cash basis)

Travelling 1.41 2.94

Advertisement & Promotions 6.23 20.40
Consultancy 5.24 2.90

Software 0.70 0.76

Others 1.16 0.75

14.74 27.75

13.Amount remitted in Foreign Currency for Dividend :

(a) Number of non-resident shareholders 1 1

(b) Number of shares held (Equity Shares

of Rs. 10 each) 18,152,243 18,152,243

(c) Dividend remitted,

- Current Year 181.52 145.22

14.Earnings in Foreign Exchange :

- Export of goods on F.O.B. basis 608.99 562.89

[Including sales to Nepal and Bhutan

Rs 221.25 Million  (Previous Year Rs. 191.56 Million)]

- Royalty 0.19 1.59

15.During the year, there has been a change in the commercial arrangements for sharing of services with certain
related Companies. Effective April 1, 2006, the value of share of costs attributable to these Companies has
been recovered as Business Auxiliary Service Commission, in accordance with the recommendations of an
independent study. Further, the Company also recovers Employee benefits of employees seconded to other
group companies.

16.Detail of Investments purchased, reinvested and sold during the year

Particulars of Mutual Funds Purchased and Sold during the year No. of Units

Purchased Reinvested Sold

ABN Amro Floating Rate Fund Institutional Plus Plan 10,000,000.00 1,454.70 10,001,454.70

ABN AMRO Fixed Term Plan - Series 3 (Quarterly Plan D) 15,000,000.00 15,000,000.00

ABN AMRO Fixed Term Plan - Series 3 (Quarterly Plan B) 10,000,000.00 10,000,000.00

ABN AMRO Fixed Term Plan Series -3 ( Quarterly Plan -C) 10,000,000.00 10,000,000.00

ABN Amro FTP- Series 2- QP- C- Dividend 10,000,000.00 10,000,000.00

ABN Amro FTP- Series 3- QP- A- Dividend 10,001,454.70 10,001,454.70

DSP Merrill Lynch Liquidity Fund 239,952.01 35.62 239,987.63

DWS Fixed Term Fund- Series 12 7,000,000.00 7,000,000.00

DWS -Fixed Term Fund-Series 13 Div Plan 10,000,000.00 10,000,000.00

HDFC Cash Management Savings Plan 19,743,522.24 24,384.66 19,767,906.90
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Particulars of Mutual Funds Purchased and Sold during the year No. of Units

Purchased Reinvested Sold

HDFC FMP - 3 M August 2006 (1) 10,000,000.00 10,000,000.00

HDFC FMP (3mths- September 2006)- Dividend Payout 18,500,000.00 18,500,000.00

HDFC FMP (6mths- June 2006)- Dividend 10,017,218.18 10,017,218.18

HSBC Cash fund Institutional Plan 53,969,776.92 212,431.59 54,182,208.52

Principal FMP- 32- 91 Days- Series VI 10,000,000.00 10,000,000.00

Prudential ICICI Fixed Maturity Plan - Series 32
- Three Months Plan C 15,000,000.00 15,000,000.00

SBI 90 day FMP on 28 August 2006. 15,000,000.00 15,000,000.00

SBI Debt Fund Series- 90 Days (May 2006)- Dividend 10,000,000.00 10,000,000.00

SBI Magnum Institutional Income  Savings Plan 4,983,802.64 2,951.44 4,986,754.09

Standard Chartered FMP 9th Plan Dividend 5,000,000.00 5,000,000.00

17. (a) The Company has during the year adopted Accounting Standard 15 (revised 2005) ‘Employee Benefits’.
Accordingly, the transitional adjustment aggregating to Rs. 113.72 Million (net of deferred tax asset Rs. Nil)
has been charged against the general reserves as at January 1, 2006. The details of the transitional
adjustment is as follows –

-    Post Employment Medical Assistance Scheme Rs. 110.99 Million

- Leave Encashment / Compensated Absences for workers

(Earned / Sick Leave) Rs.     2.73 Million

(Also Refer Schedule 2)

The Company has classified the various benefits provided to employees as under -

I. Defined Contribution Plans

a. Provident Fund

b. Indian Senior Executive Superannuation Fund

c. Post Employment Medical Assistance Scheme

During the year, the Company has recognised the following amounts in the Profit and Loss Account -
( Rs. Million)

- Employers’ Contribution to Provident Fund * 44.49

- Employers’ Contribution to Indian Senior Executives Superannuation  Fund * 31.03

- Employers’ Contribution to Post Employment Medical Assistance Scheme** 4.24

II. State Plans

a. Employers’ Contribution to Employee’s State Insurance

b. Employers’ Contribution to Employee’s Pension Scheme 1995.

During the year, the Company has recognised the following amounts in the Profit and Loss Account
(Rs. Million)

- Employers’ Contribution to Employee’s State Insurance ** 2.07

- Employers’ Contribution to Employee’s Pension Scheme 1995 * 20.14

* Included in Contribution to Provident and Other Funds under Employees’ Cost (Refer Schedule 13)

** Included in Welfare expenses under Employees’ Cost (Refer Schedule 13)

III. Defined Benefit Plans

a. Contribution to Gratuity Funds – Employee’s Gratuity Fund, Senior Staff Gratuity Fund

b. Leave Encashment / Compensated Absences for workers – ( Earned leave and Special leave)

In accordance with Accounting Standard 15 (revised 2005), actuarial valuation was done in respect of the
aforesaid defined ‘benefit’ plans based on the following assumptions -

SCHEDULES

FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS



41

SCHEDULES

FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS

Leave Encashment / Employee’s Senior Staff
Compensated Gratuity Gratuity

Absences Fund  Fund
Discount Rate (per annum) 8.00% 8.00% 8.00%
Rate of increase in Compensation levels 6.50% 6.50% 6.50%
Rate of Return on Plan Assets Nil 8.15% 8.55%
Expected Average remaining working lives
of employees (years) 27.84 20.57 15.52
(i) In case of Employee’s Gratuity Fund and Senior Staff Gratuity Fund, merger of allowances has been

assumed to be 33.33 % of the remaining allowances as per the policy of the Company.
(ii) In calculating the leave encashment / compensated absences liability, 20 % of the leave has been assumed

to be availed of during the service before separation.

(Rs. Million)

Leave Encashment / Employee’s Senior Staff
Compensated Gratuity Gratuity

Absences Fund  Fund

A) Changes in the Present Value of  Obligation
Present Value of Obligation as at
January 1, 2006 7.76 95.39 163.09
Interest Cost 0.62 7.63 13.05
Past Service Cost Nil Nil Nil
Current Service Cost 0.64 11.50 22.08
Curtailment Cost / (Credit) Nil Nil Nil
Settlement Cost / (Credit) Nil Nil Nil
Benefits paid (0.30) (10.89) (30.42)
Actuarial (gain)/ loss on obligations (1.40) 17.23 27.08
Present Value of Obligation as at
December 31, 2006 7.32 120.86 194.88

B) Changes in the Fair value of Plan Assets
Fair Value of Plan Assets as at
January 1, 2006 Nil 82.66 137.18
Expected Return on Plan Assets N.A 6.74 % 11.73 %
Actuarial Gains and Losses N.A. 1.65 1.87
Contributions Nil 19.04 35.78
Benefits Paid Nil (10.86) (30.07)
Fair Value of Plan Assets at
December 31,2006 - 99.23 156.49

(C) Reconciliation of Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation and the Fair value of Assets
Present Value of funded Obligation as at
December 31, 2006 7.32 120.86 194.88
Fair Value of Plan Assets as at the end of
the period Nil 99.23 156.49
Funded Status (7.32) (21.63) (38.39)
Present Value of unfunded Obligation as at
December 31, 2006 Nil Nil Nil
Unrecognized Actuarial (gains) / losses Nil Nil Nil
Unfunded Net Asset / (Liability) Recognized
in Balance Sheet (7.32)* (21.63)* (38.39)*

* included in Employee Benefits (Refer Schedule 11)
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(D) Expense recognised in the Profit and Loss Account

(Rs. Million)
Leave Encashment / Employee’s Senior Staff

Compensated Gratuity Gratuity
Absences Fund  Fund

Current Service Cost 0.64 11.50 22.08

Past Service Cost Nil Nil Nil

Interest Cost 0.62 7.63 13.05

Expected Return on Plan Assets Nil (6.74) (11.73)

Curtailment Cost / (Credit) Nil Nil Nil

Settlement Cost / (Credit) Nil Nil Nil

Net actuarial (gain)/ loss recognized in
the period (1.40) 15.58 25.21

Total Expenses recognized in the
Profit & Loss Account (0.14)*** 27.97** 48.61**

** included in Contribution to Provident and Other Funds (Refer Schedule 13)

*** included in Salaries, Wages and Bonus ( Refer Schedule 13)

(E) Constitution of Plan Assets

Equity Instruments - Nil Nil

Debt Instruments - 98.27 157.98

Property - Nil Nil

Other Assets - 0.96 (1.48)

Total of the Plan Assets - 99.23 156.50

(b) During the year, the Company reviewed its previous accounting policy of Leave Travel Allowance for a more
appropriate presentation of the financial statements. Accordingly Salaries, Wages and Bonus expenses under
employee cost (Refer Schedule 13) for the year ended December 31, 2006 includes an amount of Rs. 33.1
Million corresponding to the change made.

18. The Company estimates the deferred tax charge/(credit) using the applicable rate of taxation based on the
impact of timing differences between financial statements and estimated taxable income for the current year.
The movement of provision for deferred tax is given below :-

Provision for Deferred Tax
(Rs. Million)

Balance Charge/ (Credit) Balance
as at during as at

January 1, 2006 the year December 31, 2006

Depreciation 328.95 (42.46) 286.49

Total Deferred Tax Liability (A) 328.95 (42.46) 286.49

43B  Disallowances (24.22) 5.72 (18.50)

VRS (17.0) (6.38) (23.38)

Provision For Doubtful Debts (6.19) 2.25 (3.94)

Others (5.54) 5.54 -

Total Deferred Tax Asset (B) (52.95) 7.13 (45.82)

Deferred Tax Liability (net) (A)-(B) 276.00 (35.33) 240.67

19. The Company’s Nutritional business is organized and focused in India as a single business segment. Accordingly,
Segment information is not required to be disclosed pursuant to Accounting Standard 17.
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20. Earnings Per Share (EPS) – The numerator and denominator used to calculate Basic and Diluted Earnings per
Share

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

- Profit attributable to the Equity Shareholders (Rs.)- (A) 1,269,331,512 1,071,509,884
- Basic/Weighted average number of Equity Shares

outstanding during the year-  (B) 42,055,538 43,136,190
- Nominal value of Equity Shares (Rs.) 10.00 10.00
- Basic/ Diluted Earnings per Share (Rs.) – (A)/(B) 30.18 24.84

21. As at December 31, 2006, the Company has reviewed the future earnings of all its cash generating units in
accordance with the Accounting Standard 28 “Impairment of Assets”. As the carrying amount of assets does
not exceed the future recoverable amount, consequently, no adjustment to the carrying amount of assets is
considered necessary by the management.

22. In continuation of the restructuring process, the Company has during the year made certain exgratia payments
to its employees as per the VRS scheme duly approved by the Board of Directors aggregating Rs. 53.62
Million (Previous Year Rs 17.72 Million) included under Employee’s Cost (Schedule 13).

23. The Company has entered into an arrangement for a working capital facility with Deutsche Bank AG, whereby
it has secured by way of hypothecation of stock in trade (both present and future), consisting of stock of raw
material, goods in process, semi finished & finished goods, consumable stores, spares etc and books debts by
execution of a Deed of Hypothecation of Stocks and Book Debts dated December 22, 2006 in favour of
Deutsche Bank for an amount of Rs. 530 Million. A charge has been created in favour of Deutsche Bank and
filed in the office of Registrar of Companies on January 13, 2007.

24. The name of a Small Scale Industrial Undertaking to whom Company owes a sum, which is outstanding for
more than 30 days as on December 31, 2006 is Rishi Chemical Works. This amount is not due for payment as
per the terms and conditions of the purchase order/contract.

25. Details of Class of Goods -
ANNUAL CAPACITY ACTUAL PRODUCTION* STOCK OF FINISHED GOODS PRODUCED

LICENSED INSTALLED YEAR YEAR OPENING CLOSING

ENDED ENDED

31.12.06 31.12.05 31.12.06 31.12.05 31.12.06 31.12.05 AS ON 01.01.06       AS ON 01.01.05      AS ON 31.12.06    AS ON 31.12.05

QTY QTY QTY QTY QTY QTY QTY VALUE QTY VALUE QTY VALUE QTY VALUE
MT MT MT MT MT MT MT Rs. Million MT Rs. Million MT Rs. Million MT Rs. Million

1. MALT BASED FOODS 91,100 91,100 94,060 90,800 62,058 58,693 8,728 675.95 6,158 470.55 9,217 778.15 8,728 675.95

2. MILKOSE BABY FOODS 228 228

3. POWDERED MILK 3,528 3,528 1,440 1,440

4. PROTEIN RICH FOODS 1,000 1,000 514 578 134 20.63 103 11.02 88 16.88 134 20.63

5. GHEE 6,000 6,000 4,000 3,076 537 600 49 6.06 42 4.72 68 6.37 49 6.06

6. BISCUITS 10,807 10,224 1,674 68.86 642 24.70 874 38.80 1,674 68.86

7. MALT BASED FOODS 7,426 9,663 1,615 126.26 724 47.07 1,128 85.52 1,615 126.26

897.76 558.06 925.72 897.76

* Actual Production does not include Trial Production

Notes:
1. The Installed Capacities on triple shift basis are as per certificates given by the Director-Operations and are not

verified by the Auditors, being a technical matter.

2. Production figures are net of captive consumption.

3. Powdered Milk is for captive consumption and accordingly the same have been included in Goods in Process in
Schedule 5 & 15. Boost Intermediate/Horlicks Intermediates are included in Goods in Process in Schedule 5 & 15 as
these are semi-finished products.

4. Licensed Capacity listed under Serial No. 1,3,4 & 5 above are in respect to all the three factories of the Company and
are covered by Industrial Entrepreneurs’ Memorandums (IEMs) in terms of Notification No. 477 (E) dated 25th July,
1991 of the Department of Industrial Development, Ministry of Industry, Government of India. Capacity of 228 MT
listed under Serial No. 2 and capacity of 528 MT  is  included under Serial No 3  for which licences are held under
Industrial (Development and Regulation) Act, 1951 by the Company.

5. The Products under Serial No. 2 to 4 are manufactured in an integrated plant and, therefore, Installed Capacity can
not be given separately.

6. The Products listed under Serial No. 6 & 7 are processed by Third Parties.

7. Closing Stock is net of samples, internal consumption and other stock losses.
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26.(a)  In accordance with the requirements of Accounting Standard (AS) – 18 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ the
names of the  related party where control exists/able to exercise significant influence along with the aggregate
transactions and year end balance with them as identified and certified by the management in the ordinary
course of business and on arms’ length basis are given below:

A. Promoter Company

Horlicks Limited, (a subsidiary of GlaxoSmithKline Plc UK) holds 43.16% of equity shares of the
Company.

B. Other related parties in GlaxoSmithKline group where Common Control exits -

(a) GlaxoSmithKline Asia Private Limited (u) GSK China Investment Company Ltd

(b) GlaxoSmithKline Pharmaceuticals India Limited (v) SmithKline Beecham, U.S.A

(c) Sterling Drugs (Malaya) Sdn Bhd (w) Financed Share Services, GSK Pte. Ltd.

(d) GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited (x) GSK Caribbean Ltd. (Jamaica)

(e) GlaxoSmithKline Consumer (y) GlaxoSmithKline llaclari Sanayi ve
Healthcare Sdn Bhd (Malaysia) Ticaret A.S., Turkey

(f) GlaxoSmithKline Mackwoods Ltd. (Sri Lanka) (z) GlaxoSmithKline KK, Japan

(g) GlaxoSmithKline Exports Ltd (U.K.) (aa) GSK Indonesia

(h) GSK Financial Services, (U.K.) (bb) GSK Ireland

(i) Glaxo SmilthKline Ltd. Hong Kong (cc) GSK South Africa Pty

(j) GSKCH – L.P., Bangkok

(k) SB (Mauritius) Ltd.

(l) SB Corporate Centre

(m) SB Research Ltd.

(n) GlaxoSmithKline (Nigeria)

(o) GSK Bangladesh Ltd.

(p) SB Corp CB (U.S.A.)

(q) GSK Australia Pty

(r) Tianjin SKF (China)

(s) GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare (Korea)

(t) S B Pharmaceutical Services

C. Trusts under Control of the Company -

a. Senior Staff Gratuity Fund

b. Employees’ Gratuity Fund

c. Provident Fund

d. Indian Senior Executives Superannuation Fund

D. Directors / Key Managerial Personnel -

a. Nicholas J Massey (ceased to be the Managing Director effective January 1st , 2007)

b. Zubair Ahmed (nominated as Managing Director effective January 1st, 2007)

c. Simon J.Scarff

d. Gautam K. Chakraborty

e. P. S. Mukherjee (ceased to be a Wholetime Director effective May 1st, 2006)

f. P. Dwarkanath (retired as Wholetime Director effective August 1st 2006, continues as

Non Executive Director)

g. David S Allen (ceased to be a Wholetime Director effective January 24th, 2006)

h. Praveen K Gupta (nominated as Wholetime Director effective January 24th, 2006)
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27.The Company has initiated a long term incentive plan to maintain its competitiveness in attracting and retaining
Senior Grade Managers. In terms of this plan, the eligible employees will receive cash equivalent to the market
price of the shares of GSK Plc. at the end of the three years restricted period provided eligible employees are
in continuous employment with the Company during that time. Accordingly, a sum of Rs. 13.17 Million (Previous
Year Rs.18.90 Million) has been accounted in these financial statements on a prorata basis as Salaries, Wages,
Bonus under ‘Employees’ Cost’ (Refer Schedule 13).

28.Previous Year’s figures have been regrouped, wherever necessary, to conform to the current year’s classification.



48

I. REGISTRATION DETAILS

Registration No. 0 2 2 5 7 State Code 1 6

Balance Sheet Date 3 1 1 2 0 6

II. CAPITAL RAISED DURING THE YEAR (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Public Issue Rights Issue

N I L N I L

Bonus Issue Private Placement

N I L N I L

III. POSITION OF MOBILISATION AND DEPLOYMENT OF FUNDS (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Total Liabilities Total Assets

2 0 8 5 5 1 4 7 7 5 3 3 7 5

SOURCES OF FUNDS *

Paid -up Capital Reserves & Surplus

4 2 0 5 5 5 5 0 0 6 6 3 4

Secured Loans Unsecured Loans

N I L N I L

* Does not include Deferred Tax Liabilities/(Assets)

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

Net Fixed Assets Investments

2 5 7 8 9 1 3 2 1 9 6 8 0 0

Net Current Assets Misc Expenditure

8 9 2 1 4 3 N I L

Accumulated Losses

N I L

IV PERFORMANCE OF THE COMPANY (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Turnover (Sales* and Other Income) Total Expenditure

1 1 6 4 1 1 6 4 9 7 3 5 5 1 3

* Sales are net of Excise Duty

Profit/Loss Before Tax Profit/Loss After Tax

+ 1 9 0 5 6 4 6 + 1 2 6 9 3 3 2

Earning per share in Rs ** Dividend @%

3 0 . 1 8 1 0 0 . 0 0

** Basic/Diluted

V. GENERIC NAMES OF THREE PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS/SERVICES OF COMPANY

Item Code No.(ITC Code) 1 9 0 1 1 0 . 0 1

Product Description M A L T B A S E D

F O O D

Item Code No.(ITC Code) 1 9 0 5 3 0 . 0 3

Product Description B I S C U I T S

BALANCE SHEET ABSTRACT AND GENERAL BUSINESS PROFILE

OF
GLAXOSMITHKLINE CONSUMER HEALTHCARE LIMITED




